
WINDHAM ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MAY 5, 2016 MINUTES 

The Zoning Board of Appeals held its meeting on May 5, 2016 in the 2
nd

 Floor Conference Room, 

Windham Town Hall.  Board members present were Bill Powers, Mary Ann Daly, Roger Morin, Martin 

Levin, and alternate member Katherine (Kit) Eves.  Also present were Town Planner James Finger and 

Zoning Enforcement Officer Matthew Vertefeuille. 

Election of Officers 

Roger Morin nominated Bill Powers to serve as Chairman and Martin Levin seconded the motion.  Kit 

Eves asked if she could vote, and it was decided that since Jose Cruz , who is a voting member was not 

present, that she could vote.  Three calls for additional nominations yielded no other candidate and all 

voted in favor of Bill Powers to be Chairman.  In nominations for Vice Chairman, Mary Ann Daley offered 

to serve.  Roger Morin nominated Mary Ann Daley as Vice Chairman and Martin Levin seconded the 

nomination and all voted in favor. 

Public Hearing – Discussion and possible action. 

Richard Bricault, 31 Type Road, South Windham - seeking a Special Exception for an In-Law/Accessory 

dwelling in an accessory building in accordance with Section 21.2.2. 

Planner Finger’s staff report explained that the Zoning Board of Appeals is authorized to approve 

separate quarters for an in-law/accessory apartment within an owner occupied single family dwelling, or 

accessory structure by Special Exception in accordance with Section 92 provided that separate utilities 

are not connected  for a second dwelling unit.  Also, such a dwelling unit shall be integrated into the 

existing structure. 

Mr. Bricault referred to his letter dated April 11, 2016.  He said he is here before the board to apply for a 

Special Exception for the living area above the garage to be used as an in-law apartment. He lives in 

Florida and returns here in the summer and this would give him a place to stay on his visits. He said he is 

in the process of conveying the house to his son.  He said he wants to be in total compliance  with any 

and all rules and regulations the Town requires of him.  He said he wants  everything to be legal before 

conveying the house to his son. 

He advised the Board that he has installed a new septic system as recommended by the Town 

Sanitarian, but he has made no other alterations to the building.   Mary Ann Daley said it is an existing 

structure.   Zoning Enforcement Officer Matt Vertefeuille said it is considered to be an accessory 

apartment.  Planner Finger said the Board can approve an in-law apartment, or an accessory  building, 

but the owner must occupy the building.  This property is not classified as a 2-family house, he said. 

Mr. Powers asked Zoning Enforcement Officer Matt Vertefeuille if he had any objections to  the board 

granting approval. Mr. Vertefeuille said he didn’t have a problem with granting approval for the in-law 

apartment/accessory building providing that Mr. Bricault follows the regulations as specified in Section 

21.2.2. 

Planner Finger gave a brief history of the regulations.  He said several years ago this type of an approval 

could have  been granted by right. This was changed, and authorization was given to the ZBA to approve  



separate quarters, to be used as an in-law/accessory apartment within an owner occupied single family 

dwelling, or accessory structure.  Mr. Finger said the present owner of the property was advised what he 

had to do to get the approval. He was told by the Health Dept. that the septic tank had to be replaced, 

which he did. 

Mary Ann Daley asked when this was converted to an apartment.  When did the in law/accessory 

building regulations become effective.  Planner Finger said possibly in 1997 as we have correspondence 

between the previous owner and her Engineering Consultant.  

After preliminary questions from the Board, the Chairman opened the hearing for comments from the 

public. 

Mr. Jean Chaine, who lives on Scotland Road, and is a member of the Planning &Zoning Commission  

said he is in favor of the regulations to allow in-law dwellings,  but the main concern is that the use must 

be family related.  Mr. Chaine said the Board is being asked to consider the use of this property.  If the 

applicant is allowed the in-law apartment, what happens if the property is sold.  Planner Finger said if 

the board is favorably inclined to grant approval, it could include a condition of approval requiring the 

property owner to come back for approval if the property is rented to a non-family occupant. 

A discussion ensued. Planner Finger explained that if this is approved, the dwelling is still part of a single 

family dwelling; it is not a multi-family dwelling. He said in order to have the in-law apartment the 

property  would have to be owner occupied.  Kit Eves said the property will be deeded to his son.   

Planner Finger asked Mr. Bricault if he had mailed notices to the neighbors, or had written signatures 

from them.  The applicant presented a signed copy of the notices given to the surrounding property 

owners advising them of the hearing.  Also, a placard warning of the hearing was posted on the property 

prior to the hearing.  Mr. Kervin, who lives across the street was present, but gave no comment.  

Hearing no other comments or questions from the public, or the Board, the Chairman closed the 

hearing, and asked for a motion for action.    

Kit Eves made a motion to approve the in-law dwelling  for use by family members only for an owner 

occupied property located at 31 Type Road, South Windham.   Mary Ann Daley seconded the motion   

Discussion ensued with Roger Morin stating that he didn’t see a problem with it.  In addition, the owner 

has gone through a lot of trouble to do it properly, said Morin.  Mary Ann Daley agreed that he is just 

trying to get the property approved for what has existed before he bought it. He installed a new septic 

system as required by the Health District, she said.  The Chairman asked if there was any further 

discussion, and hearing none called for the vote.  All present voted in favor of the motion. 

Those voting in  favor were Bill Powers, Mary Ann Daley, Roger Morin, Martin Levin and alternate 

Katherine (Kit)  Eves.  The motion to approve the Special Exception was successfully granted as it meets 

the provisions for voting under State Law, Ct-General Statutes 8-7 that specifies there shall be four 

concurring votes to grant approval. 

Routine Business 

Review of minutes from December 3, 2015.  The Chairman asked about an item on ethics which only 

addressed 'personal interest' in a matter, but didn't mention 'financial interest'.  The Planner agreed 



that this was not mentioned, but explained that if you have 'financial interest', you are going to have a 

'personal interest'. 

Miscellaneous: Discussion arose regarding duties of the ZBA.  Planner Finger explained that in the case 

of a variance the applicant must demonstrate a practical difficulty or unique hardship that is not self 

created  It also cannot be for financial reasons or to increase the market value of property.  

The Zoning Enforcement Officer said that the ZBA must insure that the “spirit of the ordinance” is 

observed, public safety secured and substantial justice done.   

Planner Finger explained that members cannot talk about the application among themselves. You can 

only talk to town staff.  During a site walk, you may only discuss what is pertinent to the application, and 

to clarify where landmarks are located. The Board cannot ask any 'why' questions - as these must be 

raised during the public hearing where we can keep track of the comments said Finger. 

As there was no other business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:12 P.M. 

 

Respectfully submitted, Lillian Murray, Clerk 

minor corrections - James Finger, Town Planner 

 

             

 

             

 

 


